2001

Marjorie J. Durand v. Cedar City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by Marjorie J. Durand arising out of a shoot out on the 21st day of February, 1979, in a trailer court in the north part of Cedar City, Iron County, State of Utah. Mrs. Durand was an occupant of a trailer in the court.

One Neil Anderson, together with his brother, operated a motor vehicle repair shop on the north edge of Cedar City. Neil Anderson lived in the same trailer court as Mrs. Durand, only a few doors from Mrs. Durand's trailer. Exhibits "D" and "E" attached hereto give a relative location of these two trailers in the trailer court, although they are not drawn to scale.

Neil Anderson and his brother had a local reputation of indulging in alcohol in the later part of the day. On this particular evening, they became quite drunk and started up town.

They were picked up by police of Cedar City and taken to the police station. The brother of Neil Anderson was driving. While in all probability that had had drink for drink, the officers called Neil Anderson's wife to come and get him; the officers then processed the brother for driving while under the influence of alcohol. Mrs. Anderson took her husband home although he had a reputation of shooting it out with police officers, threatening police officers, and items of this nature. When he became belligerent and started back to town, making threats to go back to town to get his brother, Mrs. Anderson called the police. The police responded; the shoot out occurred; and as part of the shoot out, Mrs. Durand was injured.

Mrs. Durand signed a notice and the same was served upon Cedar City Corporation as a notice of claim within the statutory period. A complaint was filed, and a motion was made for the court to set a bond for bringing an action against officers of a city. In the due course of events, an order was filed requiring a \$300.00 bond. The bond was posted in cash as a \$600.00 property bond.

In the due course of events, the defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was overruled and denied, on the 7th day of May, 1982, by the District Court of Iron County. See Exhibit "A" attached hereto. This reserved to the defendants the right to renew the motion at the time of pretrial. At the time of the pretrial, the motion was renewed. Without additional evidence or without additional affidavits, the court ruled that the summary judgment should be granted. This is the only item that the court decided. No other question was decided

by the court at that time; Exhibit "B", "Summary Judgment," dated the 1st day of February, 1983, is the result thereof. There is as part of the record on appeal, a short court proceeding of the 7th day of January, 1983, in which the argument was submitted. The court specifically refused to rule on any other point. See transcript of January 7, 1983, page 4, line 17-19, inclusive. This appeal is based on that specific ruling, and is an appeal from the order granting the motion for summary judgment.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On January 7, 1983, the trial court saw fit to grant defendant's motion for summary judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff and appellant, Marjorie J. Durand, seeks to have summary judgment granted by the court reversed and this situation sent to a fact finder for proper disposition and findings of fact on the matter.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff along prior to the occurrence complained of, had been employed in Cedar City, Iron County, State of Utah as a supervisor of telephone operators in Cedar City, Utah, by Mountain Bell. She had been steadily employed in this capacity for a number of years. For a considerable period prior to the time of the matter complained of, the plaintiff had lived in trailer space #24, at 1027 North Main Street, Cedar City, Utah, in an organized trailer court. Neil Anderson lived in a neighboring trailer.

Prior to the 21st day of February, 1979, Neil Anderson

and his brother were self-employed as mechanics in an automotive repair institution in Cedar City, Iron County, State of Utah. At times they had been involved with intoxicants and had prior histories with the Cedar City police force. The fact that each of them became bellicose and argumentative when interfered with was known by police officers. On occasion, each had threatened to use fire arms in connection with what they termed "police harassment;" they had on occasion prior to the 21st day of February, 1979, interfered with police officers in the due performance of their duty while the Anderson brothers were under the influence of alcohol. Neil Anderson's brother's name is Eugene Anderson. In the Anderson family there had been a prior history of shootings under these conditions. All of these items were well known to the Cedar City police officers.

Upon the evening of the 21st day of February, 1979, the defendant Grant Hinchcliff and another Cedar City police officer by the name of Bruce Marshall stopped a vehicle on north Main Street in Cedar City, Utah, because of the manner in which it was being driven. Eugene Anderson was driving the vehicle; Neil Anderson was riding as a passenger in said vehicle. Both Eugene Anderson and Neil Anderson were taken into custody by the officers. The officers then proceeded in the investigation of the driving while under the influence of alcohol incident. They took both of the Anderson brothers to the police station to apply a breathalyzer test to the driver, to-wit: Eugene Anderson. Neil Anderson was taken to the police office as part of this proceeding. While attempting to process the driving-while-under-the-influence charges against Eugene Anderson, there was interference

by both brothers. The arresting officers called the wives of the two Anderson brothers and requested them to come and help them. Neil Anderson became bellicose, interfered with the police officers, threatened them, and had to be restrained. The defendant Grant Hinchcliff threatened to put Neil Anderson in jail on a charge of "interfering with an officer in the performance of his duty."

When the wives of the Anderson brothers arrived at the police station, the defendant Grant Hinchcliff turned Neil Anderson over to his wife without filing charges against him, even though there had been threats of shooting and he had interfered with the police officers in processing the driving-while-uner-the-influence of alcohol charge in relation to Eugene Anderson. Officer Hinchcliff asked Neil Anderson's wife to take him home. Mrs. Anderson asked the officers to lock him up because of the shape he was in. The officers refused to do so.

Mrs. Neil Anderson took her husband home. On the way home and after arriving at home, Neil Anderson was bellicose and made threats concerning shooting and stated he was going back to help his brother Eugene Anderson. The home of Neil Anderson was in the trailer park occupied by the plaintiff and many other people and was heavily saturated with occupants. Neil Anderson made efforts to obtain a fire arm; his wife called for police assistance. At the time Neil Anderson's wife called for police assistance, Eugene Anderson and his wife were leaving the police station, the processing of the charge on Mr. Eugene Anderson having been completed and his wife having posted bail for his appearance. The call of Mrs. Neil Anderson was responded to by defendants

H. L. Bradley, Arthur O. Stewart and Grant Hinchcliff, functioning as officers of the defendant Cedar City Corporation. At the time of responding to said call, the defendants Bradley and Stewart had actual knowledge of the previous conduct of Neil Anderson in the police station that night, having obtained the same from Officer Hinchcliff. Both Bradley and Stewart had actual knowledge that he had made prior threats against police officers while under the influence of alcohol. They also had actual knowledge that he was under the influence of alcohol on this particular evening.

The officers approached the trailer of Neil Anderson; the defendant H. L. Bradley entered the trailer, saw Neil Anderson sitting down with a rifle crosswise his knees, the bolt open, attempting to insert ammunition into the same. This was from a distance of approximately four feet. The officers allowed Neil Anderson to load the gun; the officers retreated as is shown by their affidavits, which are attached hereto as Exhibits "C", "D", and "E". After considerable altercation with Mr. Neil Anderson, with him on the porch and two of the officers in protective positions, the shoot out commenced. Neil Anderson fired two or three shots, each of which were heard by the defendants Arthur O. Stewart and Grant Hinchcliff, none of which could have been the shots that injured the plaintiff.

As a result of the shoot out, the plaintiff, sitting in her own home, minding her own business, watching television, was severely wounded. The damage she has complained of resulted therefrom. In addition, Neil Anderson was killed.

That within the statutory period as the statute was in existence at that time, Marjorie Durand filed a claim with Cedar City Corporation, which in the due course of events was denied. That at the time of filing the complaint in the above-entitled matter with the District Court of Iron County, Utah, the Court prescribed a bond to be filed by Marjorie Durand, which was filed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE ARE ISSUES OF FACT TO BE DECIDED BY A
FACT FINDER

Attached hereto are Exhibits "C", "D", and "E", which are the affidavits of the three police officers engaged in the shoot-out. In Exhibit "C", the affidavit of one Grant Hincheliff, in paragraph two, tells of stopping Eugene Anderson and Neil Anderson because the vehicle was being driven under the influence of alcohol. In paragraph three of this exhibit, it states:

"It was apparent that both Eugene and Neil Anderson were intoxicated. Eugene was informed by Officer Marshall that he was being placed under arrest for driving under the influence of alcohol. Both Andersons were taken to the Iron County Jail to process Eugene Anderson's arrest and make arrangements for both men to be transported home."

Paragraph four of said affidavit itemizes the interference of Neil Anderson with the breathalyzer tests being given to his brother Eugene Anderson. The following statement is made:

"Neil Anderson demonstrated wide emotional swings during this time but was controllable at all times and did not behave in a manner necessitating his incarceration for disorderly behavior or other similar charge."

This statement is made, although this sentence in paragraph four states: "This was necessary to prevent his interference with the breathalyzer tests." A previous statement shows that it was necessary for an officer to control Neil Anderson while his brother was given the breathalyzer test. Paragraph five relates to Neil Anderson's wife being called. An officer placed Neil Anderson in the passenger side of the car. The affidavit, marked as Exhibit "C" states that a call from Mrs. Anderson was received and she requested help, and that this officer together with one Sergeant Bradley went to the trailer. Thereafter, the shoot-out occurred.

Exhibits "D" and "E", which are the affidavits of Officers Bradley and Stewart show that at the time they responded to the call that they were aware of the prior arrest of the Anderson brothers and the fact that Neil Anderson was drunk, belligerent and making trouble.

Exhibit "F" shows the claim that was filed with Cedar City.

Exhibits "A" and "B" are the contrary findings pertaining to the summary judgment of the trial judge.

Exhibits "C", "D", and "E" and the accompanying diagrams show, by giving affect to the fact of them, that it was impossible for Mrs. Durand to have been hit by Neil Anderson's bullets. They show without question that while Hinchcliff participated in the earlier arrest for drunk driving and the earlier work in connection with Neil Anderson, that the other two officers were aware

of the drunk driving situation and the items that had preceded the shoot out.

The affidavit of Mrs. Durand shows that she is entirely without fault. She had no knowledge of what was going on. Under these conditions when we come to the question as to whether or not there are facts still to be decided by a fact-finder, we have to go a bit further and look at the results of this police work. Upon other considerations, the affidavits of the officers that are Exhibits "C", "D", and "E", raise the following questions:

1. Is there any justification for an officer to turn loose upon a town a known drunk with a known propensity to shoot when he has been in violation of the law; and what right does the officer have to let a drunk go home?

2. Did Mr. Bradley have a chance to disarm Mr. Neil Anderson, a man with a known propensity to shoot, while he was still holding a gun and while the firing mechanism was open to the knowledge of Mr. Bradley?

3. To what extent should officers be protected in this situation?

These are questions that have not been determined, and until they are determined, there is not a satisfactory solution of this particular case. It is improper to dispose of the same on a summary judgment basis.

While there is no question that we are into a situation where there is a conflict between the protection of an officer, we must ascertain at what point is the officer responsible for actions of this nature which result in damage to citizens that

are entirely without fault. There are two specific items of evidence in this matter that the court needs to determine, to-wit:

1. The actions of the defendant Hinchcliff in turning loose a person under the influence of alcohol.

2. The actions of all three officers in the shoot out, bearing in mind that the prior knowledge they had and the chance they had had to disarm Neil Anderson.

The Utah State Supreme Court has held for a long period of time that if there is any action of fact or any question of fact, that a summary judgment should not be allowed. This pertains not only to damage cases such as we are talking about, but the same applies to any other case.

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the effect of same on cases, we have the following items that we should be concerned about, to-wit:

Bill Brown Realty, Inc. v. Leah N. Abbott, 562 P.2d, 238; Pace v. Pace, 559 P.2d, 964; Madsen v. Prudential, 558 P.2d, 1337. Burrows v. McGill, 563 P.2d, 189; Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d, 1332; Sandberg v. Klein, 576 P.2d 1291; and Rees v. Albertson's, Inc., 587 P.2d, 130. These particular cases are on myriad subjects. They hold that summary judgment should not be granted. The Rees v. Albertson's Inc., on page 133, contains the following statement:

"To be considered in connection with what has been said above are these principles: that the questions relating to negligence and proximate cause are generally for the fact-trier, court or jury, to determine. A party should not be deprived of the privilege

of having such an adjudication of his claims unless it appears that even upon the facts claimed by him he could not establish a basis for recovery. Moreover, when there is doubt about the matter, it should be resolved in favor of permitting the party to go to trial."

Applying this to the case at bar, we come to the conclusion that the only possibility of having a summary judgment of no cause of action is, that even if the facts as claimed by Mrs. Durand are true, that there can be no recovery should there be a summary judgment.

We have found in negligence cases and guest cases that a person should be responsible when he consciously chooses a course of action that places others in danger. This may be done by inattentive driving and oftentimes this has been called conduct evidencing a wreckless disregard for the safety of others. This has been applied in automobile cases. State v. Berchtold, 11 Utah 2d, 208, 357 P.2d 183; and State v. Selman, 18 Utah 2d, 199, 417 P.2d 975. Applying this to the case at bar, when an officer turns loose a person under the influence of liquor, knowing that he has a propensity for troubles, do we free the officer from the trouble that results and do we do so by summary judgment without evidence? There seems to be no question that there should be a finding of fact as to whether or not the defendants were guilty of negligence.

POINT II

THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD A DUTY TO PROTECT THE PLAINTIFF FROM HARM

To answer this question, one must take a look at what is the duty of a police officer and of a city that hires police officers to its citizens.

There can be no question that the primary duty of police officers is to protect the health, lives, and morals of the people in the area that they are responsible for. This is found in Corpus Juris Secundum on "Police," Volume 72, page 207 in general praseology. There are many definitions of the word "police" and of the word "police regulation." Volume 72, page 206-207, gives us three classifications, to-wit:

1. Measures which are adopted to keep order, the laws and ordinances on cleanliness, health, and so on in effect.

2. To procure to the authorities the means of detecting the smallest attempts to commit crime, in order that the guilty may be arrested before their plans are carried into execution and delivered to the justice of the country.

3. The third phase is the comprehension itself of the laws and the measure which require the citizens to exercise their rights.

These duties were owed to Mrs. Durand as well as to every other citizen in the area.

A city is to set up a police force as delegated to cities and towns by virtue of Article 11, Section 5, of the Utah Consitution.

There can be no question that the first duty of any officer is to prevent the violation of law. Under these conditions when they picked up Neil Anderson, as long as he was under the influence of liquor, they should have arrested him and gone forward with the prosecution for public intoxication under the provisions of Title 32-7-13, Utah Code Annotated, 1953,

as amended, and under an appropriate Cedar City ordinance. However, when officers make themselves judges and juries and find a person that should not be confined and turn him loose, in a known inebriated condition, the officers that turned him loose should be held accountable for his conduct. And those that create damage, knowing he has been turned loose, should also be held accountable.

Certainly the duty owed to Mrs. Durand by the officers was the same duty as owed to everyone else in the area by the officers and by the city.

POINT III

THE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS NOT BARRED BY THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT

In all probability, items of this nature are the very reason for the label of governmental immunities. In our legal system, there are always abuses that bring everything to a head. This gives rise to two questions: First, whether or not there can be any recovery whatsoever on an action of this nature under the Governmental Immunity Act; and second, whether or not the Governmental Immunity Act has been complied with.

Pertaining to the first part of this question, Section 63-30-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, had an amendment in 1983. Prior to that time, the last amendment was in 1975. At the beginning of the section as established in 1975, set forth in the 1978 revision of Volume 7 A, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, it states as follows:

"Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury

After the 1978 revision, there are eleven exceptions. The format in the 1983 revision is different; there are some additional exceptions. The contents and the meaning of same are quite similar. For purposes of this discussion, we probably should consider the 1975 revision as set forth in the 1978 volume of 7 A, Utah Code Annotated. Very probably this is the law that was in effect in 1979, at the time that this act took place rather than the present law. The only item of exception that we should be concerned about is the first one. It reads, to-wit:

"arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused."

This again brings us squarely to the question of what is an officer's duty when he takes into custody a known drunk that is drunk and he has been taken into custody as a drunk. It again brings us to Officer Hinchcliff's affidavit which is attached hereto as Exhibit "C". Paragraph three thereof, which is quoted as follows: "It was apparent that both Eugene and Neil Anderson were intoxicated." It is not a discretionary function to prosecute a person for drunkenness or for being intoxicated. It is a matter of duty. The effect of the summary judgment is to say that the officer has discretion. The same is true pertaining to whether or not Officer Bradley acted properly in backing out of the trailer instead of disarming Neil Anderson when he had a chance to do so. These are discretionary duties of the police officer. The finding of the summary judgment claims otherwise.

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