1983

Marjorie J. Durand v. Cedar City Corporation, H. L. Bradley, Arthur O. Stewart And Grant Hinchcliff : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

Although it is unclear from a reading of plaintiff's brief, she apparently maintains that there are three genuine issues of material fact:

1. Whether defendants were negligent in allowing Neil to leave the jail in a drunken condition with full knowledge of his dangerous nature and propensity for violence;

2. Whether defendants were negligent in failing to respond to Sharlene's call in a professional manner by failing to disarm Neil and confronting him, resulting in the exchange of gunfire; and

3. Whether defendants' acts should be legally protected.¹

The third issue is clearly a question of law answered in the affirmative by the lower court. It is, of course, one of the ultimate legal issues to be decided by this court.

Neither the affidavit of Sharlene Rowley nor the deposition of plaintiff, the only evidence presented to counter defendants' affidavits,² raise any genuine issue as to whether defendants were negligent. Indeed, even when the

¹ Plaintiff has apparently abandoned her previous claim that defendants were negligent in scattering gunfire in the trailer park.

² Plaintiff submitted the affidavits of Patrick H. Fenton and Jay Jenson at the time of the original hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 28, 30). The affidavit of Patrick H. Fenton merely contained the opinions, interpretations and conclusions of counsel regarding the affidavits of Hinchcliff, Bradley and Stewart, a function that is the province of the court. The affidavit of Jay Jenson expressed an opinion concerning the bullet that entered plaintiff's trailer, which opinion was wholly without foundation. Both affidavits would be inadmissible as evidence. Therefore, both affidavits were properly stricken by the lower court pursuant to Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Walker v. Rocky Mountain Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d 274, 508 P.2d 538, 542 (1973). See also Go Real Estate Co. v. Smyth, No. 19057 (Utah November 4, 1983).

are viewed entirely in plaintiff's favor and even if defendants were shown to be negligent in some respect, such facts are immaterial because defendants had no special duty to protect plaintiff and her claims are barred by the provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

POINT I

DEFENDANTS WERE NOT NEGLIGENT, AS A MATTER OF LAW

The affidavits submitted by both parties, and any other facts presently in the record, establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding whether defendants were negligent.

In general, this court has defined negligence as "the failure to do what a reasonable and prudent person would have done under the circumstances, or doing what such person under such circumstances would not have done." Meese v. Brigham Young University, 639 P.2d 720, 723 (Utah 1981). Accord, Evans v. Stuart, 17 Utah 2d 308, 410 P.2d 999, 1001 (1966).

An application of the definition of negligence to the circumstances indicates that there is no issue as to whether defendants were negligent; they clearly were not. While plaintiff claims that defendants negligently released Neil, it is clear they had no legal basis to hold him. Neil could not be held for drunken driving since he was not driving, nor could defendants legally have held Neil simply because

Sharlene was concerned about what he might do, especially since Neil was cooperative and rational when leaving the jail. Having no realistic basis to detain Neil, defendants had no choice but to release him. Thus, under the circumstances of the situation, defendants could not be negligent for releasing Anderson.

Plaintiff then claims that defendants were negligent in failing to disarm Neil and choosing instead to confront him in the gunfight. Assuming that Bradley or any of the other defendants had an opportunity to disarm Neil in the trailer, as suggested by the affidavit of Sharlene Rowley, there is no evidence that their failure to do so constituted negligence. Sharlene offers the unsupported opinion that Bradley could have disarmed Neil, yet offers no explanation as to how it could have been accomplished. It is clear that she is attempting to second-guess Bradley's decision. Bradley had no knowledge of the conditions in the trailer. Under the circumstances, it would have been unreasonable for Bradley or the other defendants to risk their lives and the lives of others, perhaps children, to attempt to disarm Neil and confront him in the confined trailer. Surely, defendants cannot be negligent in failing, by some undisclosed method, to disarm Anderson under the circumstances at the time.

Furthermore, what choice did defendants have once Neil came onto the porch with a rifle pointed at them? No reasonable person would expect them to request Neil to go to a secluded field to wield his gun and shoot at defendants. Under the circumstances, defendants had no choice but to confront Anderson in the trailer park.

POINT II

DEFENDANTS OWED PLAINTIFF NO INDIVIDUAL DUTY TO PROTECT HER FROM HARM

Even assuming that defendants were negligent in some respect, such negligence is not material because without the breach of legally recognized duty, there can be no recovery. "Negligence in the air, so to speak, will not do." F. Pollock, Law of Torts 468 (13th ed. 1929).

Defendants do not deny that the police have a general duty to protect the health, lives and morals of the public. However, a city or its police have no duty to an individual for injuries directly resulting from the criminal acts of a third person, even if the city or its police somehow breached the general duty to protect the safety of the public. In Obray v. Malmberg, 26 Utah 2d 17, 484 P.2d 160 (1971), plaintiff filed suit against the Cache County Sheriff and his deputy seeking damages and the officers' removal from office for their alleged willful and wanton failure to investigate a burglary of the plaintiff's store. Upon defendants' motion,

the lower court dismissed the complaint. On appeal, this court affirmed the dismissal. Citing Massengill v. Yuma County, 104 Ariz. 518, 456 P.2d 376 (1969), this court wrote:

[W]e believe that defendants' contention that failure by a public sheriff to investigate a crime claimed by an individual to have been committed, ordinarily is a matter of judgment and discretion, not actionable or compensable, and not pursuable by an individual since the public official's duty is to the public, - he being accountable to and removable in a proper proceeding, by the public.

Obroy v. Malmberg, 26 Utah 17, 484 P.2d 160, 162 (footnotes omitted).

In Massengill, a deputy sheriff failed to apprehend and arrest two speeding, intoxicated drivers before they were involved in an accident resulting in the death of plaintiffs' decedent. The trial court dismissed the action by plaintiffs against the County and the Arizona Supreme Court affirmed, holding that the defendant owed no duty to the deceased as an individual. Massengill v. Yuma County, 104 Ariz. 518, 456 P.2d 376, 381 (1969). The Arizona court further stated that the duty imposed upon a police officer was a duty to the public in general and not to any particular person. Accordingly, the failure to adequately discharge a police officer's function would result in a public rather than a private injury, with recourse being had, if at all, through public prosecution rather than through a civil action for damages. Id., 456 P.2d at 379.

Another case supporting the Obray rule is Keane v. City of Chicago, 98 Ill. App. 2d 460, 240 N.E.2d 321 (1968). There, the trial court dismissed an action brought by the husband of a school teacher for failing to provide police protection to the teacher, who was attacked and killed by a student while on school premises. The Illinois Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the duty of the city to protect the plaintiff's decedent from criminal acts was no greater than its "general duty to all citizens to protect the safety and well-being of the public at large." Id. at 322. The court also provided the following public policy support for its holding that there should be no recovery for breach of a general public duty:

To hold that under the circumstances alleged in the complaint the city owed a "special duty" to Mrs. Keane for the safety and well-being of her person would impose an all but impossible burden upon the City, considering the numerous police, fire, housing and other laws, ordinances and regulations in force.

Id. Accord, Simpson Food Fair, Inc. v. City of Evansville, 149 Ind. App. 387, 272 N.E.2d 871, 873-76 (1971).

The proposition that defendants owed plaintiff no special duty is further illustrated in Evers v. Westerberg, 38 A.D.2d 751, 329 N.Y.S.2d 615 (1972). There, the police allowed an intoxicated motorist to drive his car away from the scene of an accident. The driver was involved in a second collision some 20 minutes later, killing another motorist. The lower

court entered judgment for plaintiff, who was administratrix of the estate of the deceased motorist. The New York Supreme Court, Appellate Division, modified the judgment, holding that although the intoxicated driver defendant was liable, the defendant village was not liable for failing to arrest the intoxicated driver and allowing him to leave the scene of the first accident. The court further stated:

It is well settled that a municipality, acting in its governmental capacity for the protection of the general public, cannot be cast in damages for a mere failure to furnish adequate protection to a particular individual to whom it has assumed no special duty. The Village's alleged failure to enforce its regulations and the Vehicle and Traffic Law by arresting Westerberg for intoxication, taking his car keys or impounding his automobile falls squarely within this rule of nonliability. It owed no special duty to Mr. and Mrs. Evers and through its officers, did not take any affirmative action which resulted in injury to a member of the public.

Id., 329 N.Y.S.2d at 618 (citations omitted) (emphasis in original). Accord, Evett v. City of Inverness, 224 So. 2d 365, 366-67 (Fla. App. 1969).

In the instant case, plaintiff cannot demonstrate any special duties owed to her by defendants, aside from their general duty to protect the public. Indeed, the negligence, if any, of defendants in releasing Neil from police custody while he was still intoxicated, or in failing to disarm him, is much less culpable than that of the police in Evers, who released an intoxicated driver who they did have a legal

... to detain and who had already been involved in one accident.

In the event that plaintiff's earlier additional contention that defendants were negligent in scattering gunfire comes before this court, there is overwhelming authority, in addition to the foregoing, to the effect that municipalities are not liable for injuries to others resulting from the fulfillment or breach of the general duty to apprehend wrongdoers. See, e.g., Roll v. Timberman, 94 N.J. Super. 530, 229 A.2d 281, 284 (1967) (police not liable for injuries to bystander, caused by apprehension of fleeing motorist whose reckless acts are the proximate cause of the injuries); Scott v. City of New York, 2 A.D.2d 854, 155 N.Y.S.2d 787, 788 (1956) (innocent bystander injured by gunshot wound resulting from police apprehension of escaped prisoner cannot recover from city who owed no special duty to bystander even if the police were negligent in permitting the escape), aff'd, 9 N.Y.2d 764, 215 N.Y.S.2d 72 (1961).

Based upon Obray and the ample authority from other jurisdictions, it is evident that even if defendants were somehow negligent by releasing the intoxicated Neil, in failing to disarm him, or in confronting Neil in the gunfight and scattering gunfire, they cannot be liable to plaintiff because she has not shown, and cannot show, that defendants breached any more than their general duty to the public.

Thus, although plaintiff could perhaps maintain a cause of action against Neil's estate for Neil's acts in initiating the confrontation with defendants, she has no basis for recovery against defendants.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT

A. Plaintiff's Claims are Barred by Governmental Immunity.

Aside from the fact that defendants cannot be liable to plaintiff for any negligent breach of their general duty to the public, they are immune from suit under the provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, which provides: "Except as may be otherwise provided in this Act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function" Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 (Supp. 1983).

There is no dispute that defendants were involved in a governmental function under the test established in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230 (Utah 1980). There, this court stated the following general rule for determining whether an activity is a governmental function: "[T]he test for determining governmental immunity is whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agent:

or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity." Id. at 1236-37.

Nothing could be more essential to the core of governmental activity than the enforcement of the laws and maintenance of peace and order performed by a city police department and its officers. Consequently, other provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act apply. The applicable section of the act provides:

(1) Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury:

(a) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused

Id., § 63-30-10(1)(a) (emphasis added).

Assuming defendants had a choice regarding whether to release Neil or whether to disarm or confront him, those choices were discretionary functions within the meaning of Section 63-30-10(1)(a). Although plaintiff argues that these decisions were a matter of "duty", not discretion, she cites no legal authority in support of that contention.

This court has applied Section 63-30-10(1)(a) to a fact situation analogous to the one at bar. In Epting v. State, 546 P.2d 242 (Utah 1976), the minor children of a murder victim sued the State of Utah on the theory that its

employees were negligent in allowing a state prison inmate to go on a work release program from which the prisoner left and murdered plaintiffs' mother. The trial court dismissed the complaint and this court affirmed, holding that the prison officials were involved in the exercise of a discretionary function when they placed the prisoner on work release and thus were immune from suit under Section 63-30-10(1)(a). The court further stated that it was discretionary with prison officials as to whether it would be valuable and practicable to place a particular prisoner on the work release program. Id. at 243-44. See also Amato v. United States, 549 F. Supp. 863, 866 (D.N.J. 1982) (decision not to arrest person prior to his commission of bank robbery that it was known by police officers would be committed was a discretionary function under the virtually identical discretionary function exemption of the Federal Tort Claims Act). In the instant case, the decision of whether to release Neil, assuming there was some legal ground to hold him the first place, was also discretionary and defendants are immune from suit pursuant to Section 63-30-10(1)(a).

At best, the only possible legal basis that defendants had for arresting and holding Neil (a basis that is only tenuously supported by the record) was for the offense of intoxication. Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-701 (Supp. 1983). However,

Section 76-9-701 further provides that a peace officer may at his discretion release an individual arrested for intoxication if he believes imprisonment would be unnecessary. Id. § 76-9-701(2). Thus, even if defendants could have held Neil for intoxication, the very statute giving them the right to hold Neil provides that the decision to release him was the exercise of a discretionary function.

According to the Florida Supreme Court, the decision not to disarm Neil and to otherwise confront him was also discretionary. In Wong v. City of Miami, 237 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 1970), plaintiffs alleged that a decision not to confront political demonstrators constituted negligence and had proximately caused property damage that resulted when the demonstration got out of control. The lower court dismissed the complaint and both the Florida Court of Appeals and the Florida Supreme Court affirmed, holding that the decision of whether to confront the demonstrators was discretionary, and that the decisionmakers were not subject to liability. The court stated further:

While sovereign immunity is a salient issue here, we ought not lose sight of the fact that inherent in the right to exercise police powers is the right to determine strategy and tactics for the deployment of those powers The sovereign authorities ought to be left free to exercise their discretion and choose the tactics deemed appropriate without worry over possible allegations of negligence.

Id. at 134.

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